In the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia

Docket No. 21-0412

NATHAN SCOTT STEPP, individually as a member of the West Virginia State Police, ZACH W. HARTLEY, individually as a member of the West Virginia State Police, OKEY S. STARSICK, individually as a member of the West Virginia State Police, ROBERTB. HICKMAN, individually as a member of the Roane County Sheriff's Department, ROANE COUNTY SHERIFF'S DEPARTMENT, and WEST VIRGINIA STATE POLICE,

Defendants Below, Petitioners,

Certified Question from the United States District Court for the Southern District of West Virginia (No. 2:18-cv-01281)

ν.

BRADLEY COTTRELL, on behalf of the Estate-of Bernard Dale Cottrell,

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Factual background²

On September 6, 2016, West Virginia State Police Trooper Zach Hartley ("Trooper Hartley"), Senior West Virginia State Police Trooper Nathan Scott Stepp ("Trooper Stepp"), and Roane County Sheriff's Deputy Robert Hickman ("Deputy Hickman") were dispatched to a domestic disturbance involving Bernard Cottrell that had turned violent. After a high-speed chase, the officers caught up with Bernard and were forced to use deadly force.

II. Procedural History

Respondent, Bradley Cottrell ("Bradley"), sued Trooper Stepp; Trooper Hartley;

Trooper Starsick ("Trooper Starsick") (who was not present but who (Bradley alleges) is liable as

See W. VA. CODE §§-51-1A-1 to -13.

This section is derived from § II.A of the district court's certification order. See JA at 3-4.

Trooper Stepp's and Trooper Hartley's supervisor); the West Virginia State Police ("WVSP");³
Deputy Hickman; and the Roane County Sheriff's Department ("RCSD"). Count I is a 42 U.S.C.
§ 1983 claim against Trooper Stepp, Trooper Hartley, and Deputy Hickman for excessive force in violation of Bernard's right to be free from excessive force, as secured by the Fourth Amendment.⁴
Count II is a § 1983 claim against Trooper Starsick for supervisory liability for violating Bernard's right to be free from excessive force, also as secured by the Fourth Amendment.⁵ Count III purported to be a § 1983 Monell claim⁶ against the WVSP for excessive force.⁷ Count IV is a claim against Trooper Stepp, Trooper Hartley, and Deputy Hickman purportedly arising under W. VA. CONST. art. III, § 6 ("§ 6") (the West Virginia Constitution's proscription against unreasonable searches and seizures)⁸ and § 10 ("§ 10") (the West Virginia Constitution's due process clause). Counts V and VI are West-Virginia common law claims against Trooper Stepp, Trooper Hartley, and Deputy Hickman for battery (Count V⁹) and negligence (Count VI¹⁰). And Count VII was a § 1983-Monell claim against the RCSD for excessive force.¹¹

The WVSP is an agency of the State of West Virginia. Thus, in order to evade state sovereign immunity, see W. VA. CONST. art. VI, § 3.5 ("The state of West Virginia shall never be made defendant in any court of law or equity"), Bradley sued WVSP up to the limits of any applicable insurance coverage, see syl. pt. 2, Pittsburgh Elevator Co. v. W. Va. Bd. of Regents, 172 W. Va. 743, 310 S.E.2d 675 (1983). He also sued the Troopers only in their individual capacities in order to avoid the Eleventh Amendment. See JA 8 ¶ 7 (Trooper Stepp), 8–9 ¶ 8 (Trooper Hartley), and 9 ¶ 9 (Trooper Starsick).

JA 14-15 ¶¶ 44-55; cf. U.S. CONST. am. IV.

⁵ JA 15-16 ¶¶ 56-61.

⁶ Cf. Monell v. Dep't of Soc. Servs. of City-of New York, 436 U.S. 658 (1978).

⁷ JA 16-17 ¶¶ 62-73_

⁸ JA 18-19 ¶¶ 74-83.

⁹ JA 19-20 ¶ 84-87.

JA 20 ¶¶ 88=93.

JA 21-22 ¶¶ 94-105.

On March 13, 2019, the district court granted in part Defendants' motions to dismiss. ¹² It dismissed Count III as barred by *Will v. Mich. Dep't of State Police*, 491 U.S. 58 (1989). ¹³ It held that West Virginia law adopted the rule set out in *Graham v. Connor*, 490 U.S. 386 (1989), that the right to be free from excessive force in the United States Constitution is in most settings not secured by the Due Process Clause and specifically that in the setting of an arrest or investigatory stop, it is secured only by the Fourth Amendment (and in the setting of subduing an incarcerated prisoner, only by the Eighth Amendment ¹⁴). ¹⁵ So the district court dismissed Count IV insofar as Bradley based it on a violation of § 10. ¹⁶ And it dismissed Count VII because Bradley's complaint failed as a matter of law to state a claim against the RCSD. ¹⁷

That left Counts I, II, IV insofar as it relied on the violation of a right secured by § 6, V, and VI. On September 9, 2019, the Troopers and Deputy Hickman moved for summary judgment. The crux of Bradley's claims against the Troopers was that they had used excessive force, so the Troopers showed that they had instead used reasonable force (and that Trooper Starsick also was not liable as supervisor). Deputy Hickman argued that he had also used reasonable force, and he argued that Graham barred Bradley's § 10 claim against him, too.

On November 18, 2020, this Court held that § 6 does not contain an implied private cause of action for money damages. ¹⁸ Petitioners' motions for summary judgment thus remain pending, in part because the district court is concerned whether the non-existence of a § 6 private

See Cottrell-on behalf of Est. of Cottrell v. Stepp, No. 2:18-CV-01281, 2019 WL 1140198, at *1-(S.D. W. Va. Mar. 12, 2019).

¹³ JA 26 at 4.

¹⁴ U.S. CONST. am. VIII.

¹⁵ See infra.

¹⁶ JA 28-29 at 6-7.

¹⁷ JA-30-34 at 8-12.

¹⁸ Syl. pt. 3. Fields v. Mellinger, 851 S.E.2d 789 (W. Va. 2020).

cause of action for money damages might undercut the propriety of applying *Graham* to a § 10 claim. So the district court has asked (1) whether West Virginia law incorporates this *Graham* rule, and (2) if so, whether that remains true after the Court held in *Fields* that § 6 does not contain a private cause of action for money damages, implied or otherwise.¹⁹

As demonstrated below, the answer to both of the district court's questions is yes: i.e., (1) yes, as a matter of law, the first rule from *Graham*-precludes a claim based on the allegation that the defendant violated a right secured by § 10 (the "substantive due process" clause) where the plaintiff alleges only the use of excessive force during an arrest or investigatory stop, and (2) yes, that remains true notwithstanding the fact that § 6 does not give rise to a private cause of action for money damages.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Graham and Fields are both-essentially self-explanatory: In Graham, the Supreme Court of the United States carefully explained that, regardless of whatever the right to "substantive due process" protects, it is not the right to be free from government-applied excessive force during an arrest or investigatory stop (or the right of an incarcerated prisoner to be free from government-applied excessive force while being subdued). There is no reason for West Virginia not to follow the same rule (and there are additional reasons for West Virginia to do so):

In Fields, this Court carefully explained that, and why, there is no implied private cause of action for money damages to remedy a violation the rights secured by W. VA. CONST. art. III, § 6 (and several other sections of Article III). Applying Graham post-Fields is supported, not undercut, by the basis for the holdings in both Graham and Fields—i.e., the availability of more (or at least as) specific causes of action for violations of rights secured by § 6.

See Cottrell on behalf of Est. of Cottrell v. Stepp, No. 2:18-CV-01281, 2021 WL 1966830 (S.D. W. Va. May 17, 2021).

ARGUMENT

I. West Virginia has adopted, or should adopt, Graham.

The first certified question asks:

[D]oes West Virginia apply to its own Constitution the United States Supreme Court's rule as established in [Graham] and [Lanier], which requires a constitutional claim that is covered by a specific constitutional provision to be analyzed under the standard specific to that provision and not under substantive due process?

Resolution of both certified questions requires careful recognition of the distinctiveness among several aspects of civil actions, including: (1) rights, and which specific legal provisions secure or create them; (2) causes of action, which provide a method to obtain a remedy for the violation of rights; and (3) analytical standards, which outline the parties' respective burdens in making out a cause of action, and which concomitantly provide courts with an outline for analysis of the parties' claims and defenses. The United States Supreme Court's opinion in Graham-involved only-(1) and (3); Fields (discussed later) involved only (2).

A. What Graham held.

Dethorne Graham alleged that several police officers subjected him to excessive force during an investigatory stop.²⁰ He sued them under § 1983 because, he claimed, they deprived him of a right secured by federal law—to wit, the right to substantive due process as secured by the Fourteenth Amendment.²¹ Applying the general substantive due process standard (which required Graham to prove, *inter alia*, that the force at issue had been applied "maliciously and sadistically"), the district court found no such application and thus granted the officers' motion for a directed verdict;²² the Fourth Circuit affirmed.²³

See 490 U.S. at 388–90.

See id. at 390; cf. U.S. CONST, am. XIV.

See 490 U.S. at 390.

²³ See id. at 390-92.

The dissenting judge argued that Tennessee v. Garner, 471 U.S. 1 (1985), inter alia, "required that excessive force claims arising out of investigatory stops be analyzed under the Fourth Amendment's 'objective reasonableness' standard."²⁴ On appeal, the Supreme Court of the United States agreed with the dissenter, saying, "The validity of [an excessive force] claim must... be judged by reference to the specific constitutional standard which governs that right, rather than to some generalized 'excessive force' standard" governing "substantive due process."²⁵

Analysis of a § 1983 excessive force claim must therefore necessarily "begin[] by identifying the specific constitutional right allegedly infringed by the challenged application of force." The Supreme Court went on to hold that only the Fourth Amendment's right to-be free from an unreasonable seizure—not the Fourteenth Amendment's "generalized" right to-substantive due process (beyond its initial role as the means by which the Fourth Amendment was originally incorporated against the states²⁷)—secured the right to be free from excessive force in the setting of an arrest or investigatory stop. Consequently, only the Fourth Amendment's "objective reasonableness" standard—not "a single generic" standard governing substantive due process—governed Graham's claim.

The Court concluded:

Today-we make explicit what was implicit in Garner's analysis, and hold that all claims that law enforcement officers have used excessive force—deadly or not—in the course of an arrest, investigatory stop, or other "seizure" of a free citizen should be analyzed under the Fourth Amendment and its "reasonableness" standard, rather than under a "substantive due process" approach. Because the Fourth Amendment provides an explicit textual

Id. at 392 (parallel citations omitted).

²⁵ Id. at 394 (emphasis added).

²⁶ Id. (emphasis added) (citation omitted).

²⁷ See Mapp v. Ohio, 367 U.S. 643 (1961).

²⁸ 490 U.S. at 394.

²⁹ Id. at 393-94.

source of constitutional protection against this sort of physically intrusive governmental conduct, that Amendment, not the more generalized notion of "substantive due process," must be the guide for analyzing these claims.

490 U.S. at 395 (first emphasis in original).30

Graham assumed sub silentio that there was a private cause of action—an express one, in fact—for money damages to remedy a past violation of a right secured by federal law (there, the United States Constitution) and thus subject to the standard governing claims of violations of that right—i.e., 42 U.S.C. § 1983. The existence of such a cause of action was thus not an issue in Graham: it was both undisputed and undisputable.

B. West Virginia should adopt Graham.

The United States Supreme Court's own reasons for the rule being part of federal law—set out in *Graham* itself—likewise support this Court adopting that rule as part of West Virginia law.³¹ Most obviously, conduct that allegedly violates a *specific* right that applies in a *specific* setting is best adjudged by standards governing that specific right in that specific setting—standards developed and tailored over the years to safeguard that specific right. A vague, generalized right to "substantive due process" circumstances notwithstanding is governed by a concomitantly vague, generalized standard, and is far more poorly suited to the task.³²

Similarly (although irrelevant to the instant case), Graham held that only the Eighth Amendment—again not the right to substantive due process—secures the right of an incarcerated person to be free from being subdued with excessive force (which the Eighth Amendment defines as force that is cruel and unusual). Accord Whitley v. Albers, 475 U.S. 312, 327 (1986) (categorically rejecting Whitley's substantive due process claim as an alternate basis for relief, saying, "We think the Eighth Amendment, which is specifically concerned with the unnecessary and wanton infliction of pain in penal institutions, serves as the primary source of substantive protection to convicted prisoners in cases such as this one, where the deliberate use of force is challenged as excessive and unjustified.").

The second holding (mentioned *infra*) arose when the Court then went on to set out the "objective reasonableness" test for whether excessive force violates the Fourth-Amendment.

There is also much to be said for holding that Fields provides a good basis for overruling Hutchison—and for not mourning the death of "substantive due process" en toto: See, e.g., NASA v. Nelson, 562 U.S. 134, 161 (2011) (Scalia, J., concurring) (referring to "the faux 'substantive' component of the Due Process Clause"); Lightfoot v. District of Columbia, 448 F.3d 392, 405 (D.C. Cir. 2006) (Silberman, S.J.,

Second, this first rule is wholly consistent with the universal canon requiring, for textual reasons, resort only to the most specific candidate law instead of a more general one.³³

Third, adopting *Graham* serves another important goal—giving related sovereign laws valuable consistency and predictability:

The provisions of our constitution relating to unreasonable search and seizure..., being substantially the same as the corresponding provisions of the federal constitution and taken therefrom, should be given a construction in harmony with the construction of the federal provisions by the Supreme Court of the United States.

Syl. pt. 2, State v. Andrews, 91 W. Va. 720, 114 S.E. 257 (1922).34

concurring) ("Much has been written of the Supreme Court's invention of substantive due process (an oxymoron if there ever was one) . . . "); Gumz v. Morrissette, 772 F-2d 1395, 1404-09 (7th Cir. 1985) (Easterbrook, J., concurring in all but Part II.A and concurring in Part II.A only in the judgment) ("The use of the Due Process Clauses to achieve substantive ends has no support in the language or history of the Constitution. The language speaks of process, not substance. The first time the Supreme Court encountered one of the two due process clauses, it conducted a historical review and concluded that the text-was designed only to incorporate some of the basic procedural guarantees of English law.... Since [Dred Scott v. Sandford, 60 U.S. 393 (1857), superseded (1868)], substantive due process has been the foundation of some of the most unsuccessful inventions in constitutional law. . . . The Supreme Court regularly buries the doctrine, but it just-as resolutely-refuses to stay dead . . . Because substantive due process has always been so dependent on the personal feelings of the Justices; because it has no pedigree other than a trail of defunct, little-mourned, and sometimes (as in Dred Scott) pernicious doctrines; and-because there is no need to conjure up a constitutional doctrine when there is an Amendment directed to this specific subject, we should not employ substantive due process here. Substantive due process is a shorthand for a judicial privilege to condemn things the judges do not like or cannot understand. The constitution does not give such power to judges. Whatever the demands of the consciences of the Justices, we ought not instruct randomly selected jurors or the relatively numerous lower federal judiciary to vindicate their consciences as well as those of the Justices. . . . [A] 'shocks the conscience' test spurns bright lines. It spurns rules. It is a vague standard—if it can be called a 'standard' at all—inviting decisionmakers to consult their sensibilities rather than objective circumstances. . . . ") (citations omitted), abrogated on other grounds by Lester v. City of Chicago, 830 F.2d 706 (7th Cir. 1987) (vindicating Judge Easterbrook's concurrence by holding what Graham would hold two years later).

See, e.g., syl. pt. 1, UMWA by Trumka-v. Kingdon, 174 W. Va. 330, 325 S.E.2d 120 (1984) ("The general rule of statutory construction requires that a-specific statute be given precedence over a general statute relating to the same subject matter-where the two cannot be reconciled."); accord syl. pt. 6, Carvey v. W. Va. State Bd. of Educ., 206 W. Va. 720, 527 S.E.2d 831 (1999); Bowers v. Wurzburg, 205 W. Va. 450, 462, 519 S.E.2d 148, 160 (1999) (cataloguing cases); cf. Morton v. Mancari, 417 U.S. 535, 550–51 (1974); Preiser v. Rodriguez, 411 U.S. 475, 489–90 (1973).

See also State v. Clark, 232 W. Va. 480, 493-94, 752 S.E.2d-907, 920-21 (2013); State v. Duvernoy, 156 W. Va. 578, 582, 195 S.E.2d 631, 634 (1973) ("The language of Article III, Section 6 of the West Virginia Constitution is very similar to the Fourth Amendment to the Constitution of the United States.

To not adopt the first rule from *Graham*³⁵—which decided only what provisions of the federal Constitution secured the right to be free from excessive force arising in particular settings—would be to breach this longstanding harmony in unnecessary and unwanted ways.

Finally, this Court has already come very close to adopting *Graham*'s first rule. In *Rogers v. Albert*, 208 W. Va. 473, 541 S.E.2d 563 (2000), Rogers sued for a violation of what he claimed to be his state law substantive due process right to prompt presentment.³⁶ The Court rejected Rogers's argument, saying:

Rogers argues that [a prior case] equated the right to prompt presentment with the constitutional right to due process set forth in Article III, § 10 of the West Virginia Constitution In the present context, however, due process-does not extend any further than the constitutional right to avoid unreasonable seizure. As the United States Supreme Court stated in [Gerstein v. Pugh, 420 U.S. 103 (1975)], "[t]he Fourth Amendment was tailored explicitly for the criminal justice system, and its balance between individual and public interests always has been thought to define the 'process that is due' for seizures of persons or property in criminal cases, including the detention of suspects pending trial."

208 W. Va. at 477, 541 S.E.2d at 567.

When he held earlier that West Virginia applies the first rule from *Graham* to the context of Bradley's state-law constitutional excessive force claim (and consequently dismissing Bradley's § 10 claim against the Tropers), Judge Johnston was not the first federal judge to do. Judge Copenhaver, for example, had already done so—citing *Rogers* and *Graham*:

[Article III, Section 10]- is the due process clause of the West Virginia state constitution. . . . In the context of a warrantless arrest

This Court has traditionally construed Article III, Section 6 in harmony with the Fourth Amendment.") (citations omitted); State v. Massie, 95 W. Va. 233, 120 S.E. 514, 515 (1923).

West-Virginia has already adopted the second rule. See, e.g., Davis v. Milton Police Dep't, No. 3:20=CV-0036, 2020 WL 2341238, at *7 (S.D. W. Va. May 11, 2020) (citing Graham, Duvernoy); Schoonover v. Clay Cty. Sheriff's Dept., No. 2:19-CV-00386, 2020 WL 2573243, at *8 (S.D. W. Va. May 21, 2020); Krein v. W. Va. State Police, No. 2:11-CV-00962, 2012 WL 2470015, at *6 (S.D. W. Va. June 27, 2012).

³⁶ 208 W. Va. at 474, 541 S.E.2d at 564.

before sentencing, "due process [under § 10] does not extend any further than the constitutional right to avoid unreasonable seizure." See Rogers v. Albert, 541 S.E.2d 563, 567 (W. Va. 2000) (per curiam). In line with the previous discussion in the context of the Fourteenth Amendment, all claims that law enforcement officers used excessive force in the course of an arrest should be analyzed under [§ 6], the state counterpart to the Fourth Amendment, rather than under a substantive due process approach. Graham, 490 U.S. at 395. Consequently, this [§ 10] claim-too-is dismissed.

Schoonover, 2020 WL 2573243, at *9 (emphasis added).37

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