FILE TOPY

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

DOCKET NO. 21-0412

NATHAN SCOTT STEPP, individually as a member of the West Virginia State Police; ZACH W. HARTLEY, individually as a member of the West Virginia State Police; OKEY S. STARSICK, individually as a member of the West Virginia State Police; ROBERT B. HICKMAN, individually as a member of the Roane County Sheriff's Department; ROANE COUNTY SHERIFF'S DEPARTMENT; and WEST VIRGINIA STATE POLICE,

DO NOT REMOVE FROM FILE

Certified Question from the United States District Court for the Southern District of West Virginia No. 2:18-cv-01281

SFP

Defendants Below, Petitioners,

v.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent's decedent, Bernard Cottrell, died on September 6, 2018 as a result of the use of force by Petitioner-Defendants Stepp, Hartley, and Hickman. See JA0004. Respondent has alleged that Petitioner-Defendants shot and killed Bernard Cottrell after Stepp intentionally collided his vehicle with Cottrell's, and without reasonable belief that Cottrell posed a threat of harm. See JA0007- 1.6

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Petitioner's argument in favor of adopting the *Graham* rule seeks to paper over the legal differences between a plaintiff's ability to vindicate his federal constitutional rights through monetary damages in federal court under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, which *Graham* addresses, and a West Virginian's ability to vindicate his independent state constitutional rights, the civil remedy for which was seriously limited by this Court's decision in *Fields v. Mellinger*, 851 S.E.2d 789 (2020). A private right of action for constitutional violations "is necessary to enforce West

Virginia's citizens' constitutional rights and to ensure the government's responsibility to provide and to protect those rights from governmental wrongdoing or deprivation." *Id.* at 806 (Workman, J., dissenting).

The question now before this Court is whether, in light of Fields v. Mellinger, the federal Graham rule requiring constitutional claims to be brought under the most specific constitutional provision available to the plaintiff should apply to state constitutional claims, further curtailing a West Virginian's ability to vindicate their state constitutional rights through civil causes of action. Petitioners urge this Court to adopt Graham's requirement. See, generally, Pet. Brief. However, "[s]tates have the power to interpret state constitutional guarantees in a manner different than the United States Supreme Court has interpreted comparable federal constitutional guarantees," Peters v. Narick, 165 W. Va. 622, 628 n. 13 (1980), and this Court has held that some provisions of the West Virginia Constitution are more protective of individual rights than the Federal Constitution. See, e.g., State v. Mullens, 221 W. Va. 70, 89 (2007). The United States Supreme Court has "recognized that a state supreme court may set its own constitutional protections at a higher level than that accorded by the federal constitution." State v. Bonham, 173 W. Va. 416, 418 (1984). This Court should reject Petitioners' invitation to adopt the federal Graham rule and instead reassert that West Virginians have the ability to vindicate independent violations of their unique state constitutional rights to due process as enumerated in Article III, Section 10-even if such a claim arises at the same time as a previous claim rejected under section 6.

Yet should this Court apply the *Graham* rule, an Article III, Section 10 claim is not redundant to a Section 6 claim, because the West Virginia Constitution's due process rights are unique to West Virginia and more protective of individual rights than those enumerated in the

2

federal Constitution. Further, unlike Section 6, Section 10 is self-executing such that a private right of action for money damages exists for violations by state officials of West Virginians' due process rights.

ARGUMENT

I. The application of the Graham rule is not necessary.

This Court need not follow, nor is it limited by, federal precedent in interpreting and applying state constitutional guarantees. Federal jurisprudence is not a straitjacket for West Virginia law. Nevertheless, federal precedent and reasoning may be instructive to this Court. Petitioners' argument that this Court should follow Graham asks the Court to strip Graham's rule from the legal context in which that case arose-a Section 1983 private cause of action for money damages for violation of the United States Constitution's search and seizure protections by law enforcement officers. Indeed, this is precisely the legal context this Court said was unavailable to West Virginians in Fields when it determined that there is no private right of action for monetary damages for violations of the unreasonable search and seizure clause, Article III, Section 6, of the West Virginia Constitution. 851 S.E.2d at 799. In support of its reasoning, this Court noted that Mr. Fields had "reasonable alternative remedies" available to him, including state law tort claims and claims for federal constitutional violations under 42 U.S.C. §§ 1983 and 1985. Id. It is, of course, axiomatic that Section 1983 remedies are available only for violations of federal rights, and are not available to vindicate violations of rights protected by state constitutions. See, Nieves v. Bartlett, 139 S. Ct. 1715, 1721 (2019). Further, this reasoning equates a West Virginia law enforcement officer's use of excessive force in violation of Article III, Section 6 to a mere common law tort, which "treat[s] the relationship between a citizen and a [state] agent unconstitutionally exercising his authority as no different from the relationship

between two private citizens." Bivens v. Six Unknown Named Agents of Federal Bureau of Investigation, 403 U.S. 388, 391-92 (1971). The United States Supreme Court explicitly spurned such treatment in Bivens, noting that this equivalence between a state official and a private citizen "has consistently been rejected by this Court." Id. at 391. "The injuries inflicted by officials acting under color of law, while no less compensable in damages than those inflicted by private parties, are substantially different in kind." Id. at 409 (Harlan, J., concurring).

Nevertheless, this Court has essentially foreclosed civil remedies for violations of Article III, Section 6 of the West Virginia Constitution by finding that no private right of action for money damages exists under that constitutional provision in West Virginia. As explained by Justice Harlan in his concurrence in *Bivens*,

it is apparent that some form of damages is the only possible remedy for someone in Bivens' alleged position [violation of his federal rights against unreasonable search and seizure by law enforcement agents]. It will be a rare case indeed in which an individual in Bivens' position will be able to obviate the harm by securing injunctive relief from any court....[A]ssuming Bivens' innocence of the crime charged, the 'exclusionary rule' is simply irrelevant. For people in Bivens' shoes, it is damages or nothing.

403 U.S. at 409-10. This is especially true for violations of the search and seizure provisions of the federal and state constitutions. "For a person harmed by unconstitutional action that is not likely to recur to that individual—such as police misconduct—injunctive relief may be meaningless, if even procurable." Gary S. Gildin, *Redressing Deprivations of Rights Secured by State Constitutions Outside the Shadow of the Supreme Court's Constitutional Remedies Jurisprudence*, 115 Penn. St. L. Rev. 877, 878 (2011) (hereinafter *Redressing Deprivations*). "[A]bsent a damage remedy, victims of governmental wrongdoing will have neither the incentive nor the means to file a civil action to redress the deprivation of their constitutional rights. As a consequence, government officials may freely ignore constitutional constraints without formal legal consequence." *Id.* at 878-79.

Respondent's decedent, Bernard Cottrell, is in the same position that Mr. Bivens found himself in, although the violation of his rights against unreasonable search and seizure under the federal and West Virginia Constitutions are different in substance from Mr. Bivens' claims. Here, Mr. Cottrell was shot and killed during an investigatory stop by law enforcement officers. As in Bivens, injunctive relief would not "obviate the harm" Mr. Cottrell experienced. Further, because he died from his gunshot wounds, there would be no criminal charges or trial against Mr. Cottrell; the exclusionary rule is, therefore, similarly unavailing of relief. For individuals in Mr. Cottrell's position, "it is damages or nothing;" yet this Court has barred monetary damages for violations of the search and seizure clause of the West Virginia Constitution, leaving similarly situated West Virginians with no realistic avenue by which to vindicate the violation itself of this right (the common-law battery that created the constitutional violation may be vindicated subject to the Government Tort Claims and Insurance Reform Act, W. Va. Code Ann. §§ 29-12A-1, et seq.). Ultimately, this signals to law enforcement and other public officials in West Virginia that they are free to ignore the protections of the West Virginia Constitution because there is no legal redress practically available to those citizens whose rights have been violated; instead, these officials will only answer to the lesser federal constitutional guarantees of the Fourth Amendment. See, Swiger v. Civil Service Com'r, 179 W. Va. 133, 136 (1987) (when considering the due process guarantees of the state constitution, "we must be guided by our own principles in establishing our State standards, recognizing that so long as we do not fall short of the federal standard, our determination is final."). This Court in Fields made clear that the contours of federal constitutional jurisprudence do not apply to West Virginia's constitutional

analysis; yet Petitioners now are asking this Court to return to federal constitutional jurisprudence with the *Graham* rule. Applying *Graham* to state constitutional law would leave West Virginians with no civil legal remedy for the violation of fundamental constitutional rights, despite the fact that freedom from unreasonable searches and seizures is a right appropriately deeply rooted in history and tradition for substantive due process consideration.¹

Moreover, Petitioners' argument that the *Graham* rule should apply here neglects to take into account further Supreme Court guidance in *United States v. Lanier*, in which the Court notes, "contrary to respondent's claim, *Graham v. Connor*...does not hold that *all* constitutional claims relating to physically abusive government conduct *must* arise under either the Fourth or Eighth Amendments[.]" 520 U.S. 259, 272, n. 7 (1997) (emphasis added). "[R]ather, *Graham* simply requires that if a constitutional claim is covered by a specific constitutional provision, such as the Fourth or Eighth Amendment, the claim must be analyzed under the standard appropriate to that specific provision, not under the rubric of substantive due process." *Id.* Even if this Court were to adopt *Graham*, it would not foreclose, in the case *sub judice*, a substantive claim under Article III, Section 10. Here, the claim brought by Mr. Cottrell is that law enforcement officers used excessive force which: (1) violated Bernard Cottrell's right against unreasonable searches and seizures as enumerated in the West Virginia Constitution, Article III, Section 6, for which there is no private civil cause of action for money damages; and also (2) violated Bernard Cottrell's state constitutional right not to be deprived of "life, liberty, or property, without due process of law, and the judgment of his peers," West Virginia Constitution

¹ See, Steven G. Calabresi & Sarah E. Agudo, Individual Rights Under State Constitutions when the Fourteenth Amendment Was Ratified in 1868: What Rights Are Deeply Rooted in American History and Tradition? 87 Tex. L.R. 7, 57-58 (2008) (finding that, in 1868, 34 of 37 state constitutions (including West Virginia's 1863 Constitution), covering approximately 84% of United States citizens, included clauses protecting individuals from unreasonable searches and seizures. "There was thus an Article V consensus [sufficient to meet Article V's "rule of recognition" threshold for the making of federal constitutional law] in the states in 1868 that freedom from unreasonable searches and seizures was a fundamental right that was implicit in the concept of ordered liberty.")

Article III, Section 10. In other words, not only was Bernard Cottrell battered by law enforcement officials during an investigatory stop in violation of his Article III, Section 6 rights for which he has no private right of action, he was also, independent of the battery, deprived of his interest in his life by those same law enforcement officials in violation of the due process rights afforded to him by Section 10. These are two separate state constitutional claims, arising under distinct state constitutional provisions, and capable of distinct legal remedy.²

See also, 4 Sheldon H. Nahmod, Civil Rights and Civil Liberties Litigation: The Law of Section 1983, § 3:56 and n. 3 (2017) (collecting circuit court cases). Further, Graham did not address whether Fourth Amendment standards are applicable where there was no seizure by law enforcement officers or where a seizure had been terminated. *Id.* at § 3:17 n. 5; ("even after Graham, there may still be non-arrest excessive force cases which are analyzed from a substantive due process perspective." *Id.* § 3:56). The Supreme Court has not foreclosed substantive due process analysis for excessive force claims:

There are, however, four constitutional provisions that we have said forbid the use of excessive force in certain circumstances. The Fourth Amendment prohibits it when it makes a search or seizure "unreasonable." The Eighth Amendment prohibits it when it constitutes "cruel and unusual" punishment. The Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments prohibit it (or, for that matter, any use of force) when it is used to "deprive" someone of "life, liberty, or property, without due process of law."

Kingsley v. Hendrickson, 576 U.S. 389, 404 (2015) (Scalia, J., dissenting). In Kingsley. a Section 1983 excessive force case brought by a pretrial detainee against jail officers under the Fourteenth Amendment, the Supreme Court determined that the appropriate standard for excessive force violations under the Fourteenth Amendment is the objectively reasonable standard. Id. at 396-97 ("a pretrial detainee must show only that the force purposely or knowingly used against him was objectively unreasonable."); see also, Daniels v. Williams, 474 U.S. 327, 331 (1986) ("Historically, this guarantee of due process has been applied to deliberate decisions of government officials to deprive a person of life, liberty, or property.") Any holding finding a right of action for an excessive force due process claim would necessarily be limited, as in the case below, to instances of objectively unreasonable force which deprives a person of their "life, liberty, or property" in violation of Article III, section 10 of the West Virginia Constitution.

² Nor would this Court be writing on a blank slate in finding a cause of action for excessive force is actionable under Article III, Section 10 of the West Virginia Constitution. Pre-Graham, substantive due process standards for excessive force claims were well-developed in the circuit courts. See, e.g., Johnson v. Glick, 481 F.2d 1028, 1033 (2d Cir. 1973),

Not every push or shove, even if it may later seem unnecessary in the peace of a judge's chambers, violates a prisoner's constitutional rights. In determining whether the constitutional line has been crossed, a court must look to such factors as the need for the application of force, the relationship between the need and the amount of force that was used, the extent of the injury inflicted, and whether force was applied in a good faith effort to maintain or restore discipline or maliciously and sadistically for the very purpose of causing harm.

II. Section 1983 jurisprudence is limited by considerations which are not applicable to this Court; the state constitutional remedies available to West Virginians should remain robust.

The Supreme Court's Section 1983 jurisprudence is unsuited for state courts' remedy determinations for violations of state constitutional rights for at least two reasons. First, state constitutions create rights that are independent of the federal constitution, even when those rights appear to be similar to one another. "The text or constitutional history of the state right may signal the framers' intent to accord broader protection to the citizen than kindred rights in the federal Constitution." Gildin, *Redressing Deprivations, supra*, at 905. Federal constitutional remedies are limited by the intent of the drafters of the Ku Klux Klan Act of 1871, from which Section 1983 originated. *Id.*, at 881-82, 898-905. The Supreme Court has inferred several immunity doctrines sheltering state and local officials from damages liability from the intent of the 1871 drafting Congress. *Id.* at 890-97.³ "The intent of [the 1871] Congress does not bind, and should not guide, state courts crafting remedies for deprivations of state constitutional rights." *Id.* at 888.

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